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estaBlished in the early 19th century By the 
east india Company (eiC), the devel-
opment of the Anglican church in 
Singapore was closely intertwined with 
that of the colonial government, which 
initially supported the chaplains and 
priests as government employees and 
subsidised the construction of Anglican 
churches on the island. Singapore’s evo-
lution as a political entity, first as a col-
ony of Great Britain and subsequently as 
an independent nation, has thus strong-
ly influenced the growth and shape of 
the Anglican Church in Singapore. in 
turn, woven into the story of the local 
Anglican church are the larger stories 
of changes within the Malay peninsula 
during colonial times. 

The Anglican church first gained a 
foothold in the Malay peninsula when 
Captain Francis Light took formal pos-
session of penang in 1786. Services for the 
British colonials and their families were 
at first conducted by itinerant chaplains 
but, gradually, as the community became 
more established, priests were assigned 
to specific churches, and the building of 
schools and more churches followed. in 
1814, the diocese of Calcutta was formed 
under the eiC. its jurisdiction covered all 

A Colonial
Heritage

Anglican missionary work east of the 
Suez, including that of penang and later 
Malacca and Singapore.

in 1823, Stamford raffles chose the 
strategic location — the esplanade — as 
the place to build the first Anglican 
church in Singapore soon after establish- 
ing the settlement. The large green ex-
panse sat in the heart of the european res- 
idential population, locked between the 
business centre and the Chinese town to 
the west, and the Malay community to the 
east. St Andrew’s Cathedral (see text box 
on page 48) still stands there today, a tow-
ering testament to the vision of raffles.

tHe StRaItS SettLemeNtS PeRIOD

After Singapore, Malacca and penang 
were brought together to form the Straits 
Settlements in 1826 and the colonial cap-
ital was established in Singapore, the 
Anglican church received its first full-
time Chaplain, reverend robert Burns. 
Subsequently, a year after the control of 
the Straits Settlements was transferred 
from Bengal (in india) to the Colonial 
office in Britain, the first Colonial 
Chaplain, reverend John Beckles, was 
appointed in 1868.

The centre of authority for the 
Anglican church moved gradually 
from Calcutta to Southeast Asia when a 
United diocese of Singapore, Labuan and 
Sarawak was formed in 1881. in the late 
19th century, churches were increasingly 
established across the peninsula, includ-
ing Taiping (1887), Kuala Lumpur (1887) 

(above) The Anglican Diocese at St Andrew's Village. All rights reserved, National Library Board, Singapore.

the Singapore diocesan 
magazine (diocesan digest)

First published as the Singapore Diocesan 
Magazine in November 1910,6 it was “a 
quarterly record of church work etc. in the 
Diocese”.7 The Diocese of Singapore, formed 
in 1909, had extended beyond the Straits 
Settlements to include the Federated Malay 
States, Java and Siam (Thailand). The first 
issue noted how the Singapore Diocesan Mag-
azine was inspired because “we in the Church 
of England seemed to know very little about 
each other’s doings, and in consequence 
were not sufficiently united.” The quarterly 
thus gave updates on recent church activities 
and events in each district as well as in the 
church-run homes, schools and institutions 
along with appointments of both clerics and 
laity. The digitised collection spans from the 
first issue of 1910 until Volume 27, Number 
104 of November 1936. The magazine contin-
ues today as the Diocesan Digest.

(above) Cover page of the first issue 
of the Singapore Diocesan Magazine. 
Courtesy of the Archives of the Anglican 
Diocese of Singapore.

(above) The Singapore Diocesan Quarterly Leaflet, 
Vol. 1, No. 2, May 1939. Image courtesy of the Archives 
of the Anglican Diocese of Singapore.

(above) An example of subsequent editions renamed 
the Singapore Diocesan Association Magazine, 
August 1964. Image courtesy of the Archives of the 
Anglican Diocese of Singapore.

and Seremban (1893).1 This was a natural 
consequence as the Malay States opened 
up with the signing of the pangkor Treaty 
in 1874 and the British started to establish 
themselves commercially, in businesses 
and plantations, in the peninsula. during 
this time, local Tamils and Chinese from 
various dialect groups began joining the 
Anglican church.

tHe aNgLICaN CHURCH IN 
tHe 20tH CeNtURy 

increasingly, the need to centre Anglican 
missionary work in Singapore became 
apparent. Archdeacon Hose, a brilliant 
preacher and Malay scholar, started the 
Bishopric endowment Fund to help set 
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(centre) St Andrew's Cathedral. chooyutshing, via Flickr.

St andrew's cathedral

The location where St Andrew’s Cathedral 
now stands was selected by Sir Stamford 
Raffles in 1823. Prior to the construction of 
St Andrew’s Cathedral stood the St Andrew’s 
Church, which was designed by George D. 
Coleman and completed in 1836. The build-
ing was deemed unsafe in 1852 — after being 
struck twice by lighting — and was eventual-
ly demolished. 

St Andrew’s Cathedral as we know it 
today was designed by Lieutenant-Colonel 
Ronald MacPherson and built between 1856 
and 1864 by Indian convict labourers. Inter-
estingly, the walls are plastered with a mate-

up the diocese of Singapore.2 The diocese 
of Singapore was formed in 1909 and in-
cluded the Straits Settlements, name-
ly Singapore, penang and Malacca, as 
well as the Federated Malay States, Java 
and Siam (Thailand). Unfortunately, the 
diocese suffered financially during this 
period because of the Great depression 

and the two world wars. To make mat-
ters worse, the Japanese occupation 
seemed to have obliterated what was left 
physically of the Anglican church as its 
expatriate priests were interned.

Thankfully, a stronger Asian leader-
ship emerged after the war. The church, 
with an awakened local laity, arose ready 

to ride the new wave of nationalism. The 
chaplaincy system was replaced by par-
ishes in 1947, a signal of the endorsement 
of “a permanent civil establishment”.3 
in 1960, the diocese was renamed the 
diocese of Singapore and Malaya, soon 
after Malaya’s independence from British 
rule in 1957. By 1970, five years after 
Singapore separated from Malaysia, the 
diocese of Singapore reverted back to her 
former name with jurisdiction only over 
Singapore initially but later expanding in 
the 1990s to encompass the six deanery 
countries of Cambodia, indonesia, Laos, 
nepal, Thailand and vietnam. 

tHe aNgLICaN aRCHIveS IN SINgaPORe

As early as 1868, the Church showed con-
cern that its records “[were] in danger of 
being injured or lost” and its leadership 
took steps to obtain a small iron safe.4 
However, the Anglican Archives at the 
diocese was not formally established un-
til 2008. 

That same year, the national Library 
Board of Singapore (nLB) began digitising 
the heritage records preserved in its hold-
ings. These include nine volumes of the 
Church record Book spanning from 1838 
to 1941 — comprising old manuscripts 
from St Andrew’s Church (later rebuilt 
as St Andrew’s Cathedral) and include re-
cords such as minutes of meetings, ap-
pointments and updates. As the church 
was closely linked with Singapore’s colo-
nial government, these manuscripts give 
insight not only to the clergy and laity 
within the church but also make refer-
ences to early leaders in the colonial gov-
ernment in Singapore.

tained in the Singapore Auxiliary Diocesan 
Association Quarterly Leaflets. Much earli-
er records have also been digitised, such 
as the Church records of the St Andrew’s 
Church Committee from the mid-19th 
century; these are often scrawled min-
utes of meetings in elegant but not always 
legible handwriting.

These digitised resources are avail-
able for onsite viewing at the national 
Library of Singapore. Some significant 
national gems within its holdings in-
clude the Letters of patent to the Straits 
Settlements in the 33rd year of HM Queen 
victoria (1869), which officially placed 
the diocese of Singapore, Labuan and 
Sarawak directly under the jurisdiction 
of the Archdiocese of Canterbury as well 
as the Letters of patent to Labuan and its 
dependencies in the 34th year of HM’s 
reign (1870). These massive manuscripts 
are housed in glass cases along with their 
impressive large seals complete with em-
bossed images.

Besides these rare items are limited 
numbers of photo albums, architectural 
drawings and various handwritten let-
ters and records. The Anglican Archives 
continues to grow as it receives and col-
lects invaluable materials such as The 
Courier, the St Andrew’s Cathedral’s mag-
azine published since 1915, and several 
other publications from various church-
es within its fold. The Anglican Archives 
is open to researchers who make advance 
appointments. ●

The author would like to thank Ms Lau Jen Sin 
and Reverend Canon Soon Soo Kee for review-
ing this article.

Brief History of the 
Anglican Church in 
Southeast Asia

The British annexed Penang 
in 1786 and established the 
Anglican Church through the EIC 
in the Malay Peninsula.

A United Diocese of Singapore, 
Labuan and Sarawak is formed 
with St Andrew's Church in 
Singapore being made the 
Cathedral Church of the newly 
established Diocese.

With the separation of 
Singapore from Malaysia, the 
Diocese of Singapore became a 
geographically distinct Diocese.

The Malayan chaplaincies of the 
Straits Settlements — Penang, 
Malacca and Singapore — come 
under the jurisdiction of the 
Bishop of Culcutta.

The Diocese of Singapore 
becomes a separate entity.

The establishment of the Province 
of South East Asia sees Bishop 
Moses Tay from Singapore serving 
as the first Archbishop of the 
Province. The province of South 
East Asia covers the Dioceses of 
Kuching, Sabah, Singapore and 
West Malaysia.

Singapore and the rest of the 
Malayan chaplaincies of the 
Straits Settlements are placed 
under the jurisdiction of the 
Diocese of Singapore, Labuan 
and Sarawak.

The Diocese of SIngapore and 
Malaya is formed.

1786–1814 1814–1869 1881–1908 1908–1959 1960–1969 199619701869–1881

For the genealogist, there are sever-
al resources that may prove valuable for 
research. Baptism records indicate per-
tinent details of a child and the family 
such as date of birth, parents’ names, lo-
cation of home and even father’s vocation. 
There are also marriage notices, includ-
ing records of marriages consecrated at St 
Andrew’s Cathedral during the Japanese 
occupation between 1944 and 1945. The 
records indicate the ages of the newly-
weds, the profession of the groom, the 
residential addresses of both partners 
and the name as well as profession of the 
groom’s father. The respective nation-
alities of the bride and groom were also 
required, revealing several Chinese and 
indian names. nominations to lay leader-
ship present details such as place of birth, 
marital status, number of children and 
occupation, alongside details of minis-
try experience. The Cathedral’s most ex-
tensive death records is the nine-volume 
Book of remembrances, acknowledging 
those who had died in the war.

Besides primary BMd5 records, the 
archival holdings also include sever-
al publications unique to the diocese, 
namely Singapore Diocesan Magazine and 
the Singapore Diocesan Quarterly. Minutes 
of meetings such as the Singapore 
diocesan Association records (1911–1931) 
are not merely administrative records; 
when taken as a whole, these unfold 
much of the history and ministry of 
the Anglican community in the Malay 
peninsula. The records include profiles of 
leaders and details on the establishment 
of churches, schools, hospitals and oth-
er forms of social infrastructure. These 
are supplemented with information con-

rial called Madras chunam, a mixture of egg 
white, coarse sugar, lime, coconut husk and 
water that has weathered surprisingly well in 
Singapore’s tropical climate. 

During the Japanese Occupation, church 
services ceased as the cathedral acted as an 
emergency hospital, treating casualties of 
the frequent bombings. A memorial plaque 
stands in the church grounds, commemorat-
ing Malayan Civil Service officials who died 
in World War II.

St Andrew’s Cathedral is the oldest Angli-
can house of worship in Singapore and was 
gazetted as a national monument in 1973. 

(left to right) The front cover of the January 1937 
issue of The Courier can be found in the holdings of 
the Anglican Archive;9 Letters of Patent to the Straits 
Settlements in the 33rd year of HM Queen Victoria 
(1869) and its accompanying seal. All rights reserved, 
National Library Board.

(Largely based on Batumalai (2007). A bicentenary history of the Anglican Church 
of the Diocese of West Malaysia with inputs from Reverend Canon Soon Soo Kee)


